Using Human Rights in Litigation and Advocacy:
A basic road map to research
(see also: http://www.asil.org/resource/humrts1.htm )
1. Identify the relevant rights and legal instruments 

International

The starting point is the website of the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights which lists all international human rights instruments

http://www.ohchr.org/english/law/index.htm 

Remember don’t just confine your research to treaties and consider any relevant declarations, resolutions etc. 

And even further are there any other international instruments that are relevant: one of the ILO conventions, the Refugee Convention, something on international crime prevention, a security council resolution?

See for example:

http://www.ilo.org/    [ILO]

http://www.unhcr.ch/cgi-bin/texis/vtx/home  [UNHCR]

http://www.unodc.org/unodc/index.html  [United Office on Drugs and Crime Prevention]

http://www.un.org/Docs/sc/ [Security Council]

There are also other websites that contain heaps of UN information and which you may find easier to access and use.  For example:

www1.umn.edu/humanrts/    

University of Minnesota human rights website which contains comprehensive collection of human rights documents]

 http://documents.un.org/simple.asp

The UN Optical Disk System

www.dfat.gov.au/hr/   

[Human rights section of the Department of Foreign Affairs]

Domestic

Is there any federal legislation or legislation from other Australian states/territories that relates to your question or does your question deal with proposed legislation?

See: http://www.austlii.edu.au
And what about comparative legislation.  Is there legislation from another jurisdiction that is relevant to your question.
Consider South Africa, New Zealand, USA, UK, Canada, Italy, other nations?

See: http://www.worldlii.org/catalog/2027.html 
2. Now you have identified the relevant laws, with respect to international law are they binding on the State in question and with respect to domestic law, are they in force? 

International law

Remember just because an international document has been adopted by the United Nations General Assembly does not mean that a State is bound by the obligations under the treaty.  They must first become a party which generally requires ratification.  Once a party has ratified the treaty it must perform its obligations under the treaty in good faith.  Remember the maxim pacta sunt servanda which is set out under article 26 of the Vienna Convention on the law of Treaties.

In order to determine whether the state in question is a party to the relevant treaty go to http://www.ohchr.org/english/law/index.htm , click on the relevant instrument and then click on the ‘status of ratification’ link under ‘related information and you will get something like this for the ICCPR: http://www.ohchr.org/english/countries/ratification/4.htm
OR

Go to the UN Treaty Collection in the Popular Databases on the Legal Resource Centre Home page:

http://www.law.unimelb.edu.au/lrc/pub/links/useful_links.cfm?SiteArea=Library&Level2=216
Remember also that a Convention that has been ratified by a State applies to entire territory over which that State has jurisdiction and article 27 of the Vienna Convention provides that a State cannot invoke internal law as justification for failure to perform a treaty.  Thus the Federal Government cannot say, gee whiz we’d like to ensure a right to education, but that’s a matter for the states.

3. So now you have identified the relevant rights, laws and provisions, what do they mean?

(a) Consider the rules for treaty/legislative interpretation and the drafting history

International Law

Remember that interpretation of treaties is guided by the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties.  The principles are pretty simple – give a word its ordinary meaning; and interpret in good faith in accordance with the object and purpose of the instrument.

See: Article 31 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties

treaties must be interpreted in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in the light of their object and purpose
· Ordinary meaning: not necessarily strict grammar and must take account all consequences which reasonably flow from the text

· Context for purposes of interpretation includes text, preamble and annexes and any agreement made re treaty between parties

You can of course use you supplementary measures eg: the drafting history (often referred to as the travaux preparatoires) to assist in resolving the meaning of a phrase where the ordinary rules of interpretation would lead to an absurd result.

See: Article 32 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties
Make recourse to supplementary means incl preparatory work and c/t of conclusion to confirm meaning resulting from appl of art 31

OR

meaning in light of art 31 is ambiguous or obscure or leads to a result which is manifestly absurd or unreasonable

See for example: 

S Detrick (ed) The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child: A Guide to the Travaux Preparatoires (1992)

M Nowak UN Covenant on Civil and Political Rights CCPR Commentary (2004) 2nd edition

Domestic

With respect to domestic legislation you should by now know the rules of statutory interpretation.  And remember that it never hurts to look at the explanatory memorandum and second reading speech.

(b) Consider any relevant jurisprudence 

International Human Rights Law Committee Bodies

With respect to children the focus will invariably be on the Committee on the Rights of the Child (http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/crc/index.htm)  especially its:

· Concluding observations 

· General Comments http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/crc/comments.htm
	No.
	Subject
	Languages
	Date

	6
	Treatment of unaccompanied and separated children outside their country of origin
	� E | F | S
	2005

	5
	General measures of implementation for the Convention on the Rights of the Child
	� E | F | S
	2003

	4
	Adolescent Health
	� E | F | S
	2003

	3
	HIV/AIDS and the rights of the child
	� E | F | S
	2003

	2
	The role of independent human rights institutions
	� E | F | S
	2002

	1
	The aims of education
	� E | F | S
	2001


· Discussion Days http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/crc/discussion.htm
	Recommendations
	Year
	Summary Record 

	Implementing child rights in early childhood
	2004
	SR.979

	The rights of indigenous children
	2003
	 

	The private sector as a service provider
	2002
	 

	Violence against children within the family and in school
	2001
	 

	State violence against children
	2000
	 

	10th Anniversary: General measures of implementation
	1999
	 

	HIV/AIDS
	1998
	 

	Children with disabilities
	1997
	 

	The child and the media
	1996
	 

	Juvenile justice
	1995
	 

	The girl child
	1995
	 

	Role of the family
	1994
	 

	Economic exploitation
	1993
	 

	Children in armed conflict
	1992
	 


Its easy to read the general comments and discussion days but the work of the committee in the concluding observations is less accessible.  You can either open up the various observations and read them to get a sense of how they have interpreted the relevant issues.  

You may also need to look at the work of the other Committee bodies including:

· The Human Rights Committee (http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/index.htm) and its decisions in individual complaints; concluding observations; and general comments (http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/comments.htm) 

Much of the Committee’s jurisprudence is summarised in:

S Joseph J Schultz and M Castan The International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights: Cases Material and Commentary (2004 2nd edition) so this at least makes your task a little easier.

· The Committee on Economic Social and Cultural Rights (http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/index.htm) and its Concluding observations; and General comments (http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/comments.htm) especially on matters such as health, education, housing, adequate food,  primary education etc.

Also make sure you do not overlook the work of the:

· CERD Committee (http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cerd/index.htm), 

· CEDAW Committee (http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/recommendations/index.html)

· CAT Committee (http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cat/index.htm) 

Note: The general comments on all the Committee bodies can be found at:

http://www.unhchr.ch/tbs/doc.nsf/(Symbol)/ca12c3a4ea8d6c53c1256d500056e56f?Opendocument 

Also if you want a quick summary of all the individual complaints to the HRC, CAT and CERD that have involved Australia see the following website:

http://www.kateeastman.com/humanrights/humanrights.htm 

You can also go to the following site  - www.bayefsky.com – which provides a comprehensive collection of material relevant to the UN treaty monitoring system categorised under State and subject matter.

Other international tribunals

Although the ICJ and various international criminal tribunals are not human rights bodies they still produce jurisprudence that can assist in mapping out the content of a State’s obligations under international human rights law as in the recent advisory opinion of the ICJ in the Israeli Wall Case or the content of specific rights such as the prohibition against torture.

ICJ
http://www.icj-cij.org/ 

ICTY
http://www.un.org/icty/
ICTR
http://65.18.216.88/default.htm 
Regional human Rights case law

The work of regional human rights courts may provide you with an insight into the meaning of various human rights especially the European Court of Human Rights but also the Inter American system for the protection of Human Rights.

The European Court has a web site: www.echr.coe.int 

But it is not particularly good for doing subject searches.  Thus you may been to have a look at some of the textbooks that summarise the case law of the Court such as:

H Clayton and R Tomlinson The Law of Human Rights (OUP 2000)

D Harris M O’Boyle and C Warbick Law of the European Convention on Human Rights (1995) (be warned this is now somewhat out of date)

You may also like to review the following website: www.humanrights.coe.int/Bulletin/eng/presenting.htm 

The work of the inter American system can be found at:

http://www1.umn.edu/humanrts/iachr/iachr.html

Inter-American Court of Human Rights

http://www.cidh.oas.org
http://www1.umn.edu/humanrts/cases/commissn.htm 


Inter-American Commission of Human Rights

In reality very few of you will need to look at this jurisdiction but be aware that it did produce a very progressive advisory opinion on children’s rights which is worth a read:

Advisory Opinion on the Juridical Status and Human Rights of the Child, the Inter American Court on Human Rights Advisory Opinion OC-17/02, 28 August 2002

Domestic human rights case law

A number of really significant decisions about the meaning of human rights standards generally and the rights of children specifically have been handed down in domestic courts.  In South Africa for example there have been landmark cases concerning the rights to health and housing:

Minister for Health v Treatment Action Campaign (Constitutional Court of South Africa case CCT 8/02, 5 July 2002); 

Soobramoney v Minister of Health (Kwazulu-Natal) (Constitutional Court of South Africa case, CCT 32/97, 27 November 1997); 

South Africa v Grootboom and others (Constitutional Court of South Africa case CCT 11/00, 11 May 2000).

In the USA, the Supreme Court recently decided that the death penalty was a form of cruel and inhuman treatment for persons under 18: 

Roper v Simmons 543 US (2005) 1, 21-26

But it has also decided a number of other cases dealing with issues such as freedom of expression and juvenile justice.  But you may well find that there is case law relevant to your question from other jurisdictions such as the UK, Canada, New Zealand or any other commonwealth nation. 

The best place to start your search for such case law is via:

www.worldlii.org.edu.au 

[provides links to case law and legislation from various jurisdictions]

www.interights.org/ 

[provides databases for international and commonwealth human rights case law]

Also make sure you don’t overlook the work of Australian courts.  Although rights are not in vogue right now, the Family Court has certainly been prepared to consider international law in the determination of its disputes.  See for example:

B and B (Family Law Reform Act 1995) (1997) FLC 92-755 paras 10.1-10.65

B (Infant) and B (Intervener) v Minister for Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs Appeal No SA82 of 2002 19 June 2002 paras 1-4; 248-288; 311-370; 381-400.

Compare: Minister for Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs v B & B [2004] HCA 20 (29 April 2004) paras 10, 13-22, 53

Re Alex (Hormonal Treatment for Gender Indentity Dysphoria) 13 April 2004 ( File number suppressed) paras 1-5, 220- 240, 242.

And you should be aware of the various High Court cases that demonstrate the extent to which the Court is prepared to entertain recourse to international human rights instruments.

Al Kateb v Godwin [2004] HCA 37 (6 August 2004) paras 31-74; 145-193.

Re Woolley; ex parte Applicants M276/2003 by their next friend GS [2004] HCA 49 (7 October 2004) paras 78, 183, 186.

4. Now that you have identified any relevant jurisprudence (or perhaps the lack thereof) what else should you look at:

(a) legal journals

As you would be aware there are so many legal journals now that it would be impossible to list them all without killing a few trees.  Thus you should start as you do with all law essays with some basic searches on AGIS, Legaltrac, First Search, Index to Legal Periodicals, Westlaw and/or Lexis etc.  Scare yourself and check out some of the popular databases on the web site for the Legal Resource Centre:

http://www.law.unimelb.edu.au/lrc/pub/legal_research/popular_databases.cfm 

Remember of course that these databases are far from complete and sometimes reflect a strong US bias.  So make sure you extend your consideration of legal journals beyond the American search engines.

Some examples of other journals which you may find to be of particular interest and relevance include:

· European Journal of International Law

· http://www.ejil.org/
· Human Rights Quarterly

http://muse.jhu.edu/journals/human_rights_quarterly/

· Human Rights Law Review http://hrlr.oxfordjournals.org/ 

· Australian Journal of Human Rights http://www.ahrcentre.org/content/research_ajhr.htm 

· Alternative Law Journal http://www.altlj.org/ 

· South African Journal of Human Rights http://www.law.wits.ac.za/sajhr/sajhr.html 

· International Health and Human Rights http://www.biomedcentral.com/bmcinthealthhumrights/ 

· Health and Human Rights: An International Journal

http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/fxbcenter/journal.htm 

(b) Non legal journals

Good research paper may (but not necessarily) need to draw on disciplines other than law including critical theory, economics, international relations, criminology, pediatrics, adolescent psychiatry, sociology, anthropology and just about anything else that you can find that is relevant to your question.  

Check out some of the following search engines and see what you find.  Remember to be creative and think laterally with your search requests.  

http://infotrac.galegroup.com/itw/infomark/111/1/1/purl=rc6_EIM?sw_aep=unimelb 

http://infotrac.galegroup.com/menu 

http://subjectresources.infodiv.unimelb.edu.au/subject.php#Education
http://buddy.lib.unimelb.edu.au/cgi-bin/buddyrun.cgi/NET/15667 

(c) Textbooks

It may sound old fashioned but there is likely to be several textbooks that may contribute something to your research question.  This means an old fashioned search of the catalogue via the Legal Resource Centre.  Just be wary when using textbooks that they can quickly date.  Remember once again not to confine your search inquiries to the boring fuddy duddy law text and be prepared to consider texts that are sitting on the shelves of the Bailleu and Educational Resource Centre.

5. But is there anything else – you bet – you should also consider the work of:

(a) United Nations Human Rights Bodies

There are dozens of such bodies starting with the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights:  www.ohchr.org 

But there is also the Commission on Human Rights:  http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/chr/index.htm 

The body has several special rapporteurs (listed as special procedures on the web site) that produce annual reports that may contain information relevant to your paper.  For example there is a Special Rapporteur on:

· The Right to Education: http://www.ohchr.org/english/issues/education/rapporteur/
· The Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography: http://www.unhchr.ch/children/rapporteur.htm
· The right to health http://www.ohchr.org/english/issues/health/right/index.htm 

· The right to housing http://www.ohchr.org/english/issues/housing/index.htm 

· The protection against torture http://www.ohchr.org/english/issues/torture/rapporteur/index.htm 

And the list goes on…

It also has country rapporteurs as well so if you are looking at a country other than Australia you might like to see what the rapporteurs have said: http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/chr/special/countries.htm 

(b) Other UN and international bodies

Don’t just think that only the work of the Office of the High Commissioner is relevant to your research question.  You should also consider whether any of the following bodies may also be helpful:

· The International Labour Organisation http://www.ilo.org/  http://www.ilo.org/public/english/standards/ipec/wdacl/2005/index.htm 

· The UN High Commissioner for Refugees 

· The World Health Organisation http://www.who.int/en/  http://www.who.int/topics/child_abuse/en/  http://www.who.int/child-adolescent-health/right.htm

· UNIFEM

· United Nations Development Programme

· UNESCO

· UNAIDS

· UNICEF www.unicef.org 

· World Food Program

· World Bank http://www.worldbank.org/  

· Secretary General

· UN Office of Drugs and Crime Prevention

· UN Security Council

· Millennium Development Project http://www.unmillenniumproject.org/ 
(c) NGOs

There are literally thousands of NGOS.  Some produce good research and others churn out rubbish.  You will have to use some discretion in sorting the wheat from the chaff.  

Some of the better international NGOs include:

· Human Rights Watch: www.hrw.org/children/
· Amnesty International: http://www.amnesty.org/  http://web.amnesty.org/pages/childsoldiers-index-eng 

· Save the Children UK  http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/scuk/jsp/index.jsp?flash=true 

· Defence for Children: www.defence-for-children.org
· Coalition to the Stop the Use of Child Soldiers http://www.child-soldiers.org/ 

· Oxfam http://www.oxfam.org.uk/ 
· Article 19 http://www.article19.org/ 

· Center for Economic and Social Rights http://www.cesr.org/ 

· Liberty UK http://www.liberty-human-rights.org.uk/ 

· Human Rights Initiative www.humanrightsinitiative.org 
There are also plenty of domestic NGOs whose work may also be relevant so don’t discount there groups either.  
(d) Statutory bodies

Make sure you do not overlook some of the work that is done by statutory bodies in Australia such as:

· The Australian Law Reform Commission: www.alrc.gov.au 

· The Victorian Law Reform Commission: http://www.lawreform.vic.gov.au 

· The Victorian Privacy Commissioner: http://www.privacy.vic.gov.au/dir100/priweb.nsf 
· The ACT Human Rights Office http://www.hro.act.gov.au/index.html 

(e) Research centres/institutes

Finally there are several research centres both within Australia and abroad that undertake research on matters that are relevant to human rights.  Make sure you don’t overlook the work of such bodies.  

For example, within Australia there is the Gilbert and Tobin Centre for Public Law: http://www.gtcentre.unsw.edu.au/   While overseas there is the NYU Centre for Human Rights and Global Justice which has some excellent research links (www.nyu.edu) and the Centre for Economic Social and Cultural Rights (www.cesr.org )

(f) the European Union and Council of Europe

For those of you who are daring, plain crazy or have too much time on your hands, you may want to wade into the publications, resolutions, reports, papers and just about everything else that the greatest bureaucracy in the history of civilisation has generated.  There are absolutely piles of stuff that the COE (http://www.coe.int/DefaultEN.asp ) produce and some of it is sometimes relevant to human rights and it is probably worth doing some searches to see if some committee somewhere within the system or the COE itself has produced a report or adopted a resolution on a matter relevant to your issue.
(g) National Human rights institutions

There is a growing trend to create national human rights institutions to monitor the implementation of human rights within a State.  Such bodies often prepare valuable reports that can be of great assistance with your research.

See for example the Australian Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission: www.hreoc.gov.au 

See also the National Human Rights Institutions Forum http://www.nhri.net/ 
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